
561

had indeed been the lone assassin . Then, in 1976, it was revealed in
hearings before the Senate Intelligence Committee that certain
Federal agencies had not been as candid with the Commission as
had been thought . The Warren Commission was not accused of
being a party to the failure to find the truth, but its victim . The
culpable agencies? The FBI and the CIA, both of which, the Senate
committee concluded, had withheld significant information from
the Commission.
The mandate of the Select Committee on Assassinations calls for

an investigation of the performance of Federal agencies assigned to
any aspect of the Kennedy case . With the Warren Commission
itself, the issue to be considered is whether its procedures, tech-
niques and organization were sufficient to carry out its mandate .
In other words, the committee must consider the quality of the
conduct of the Commission to judge the reliability of its conclu-
sions .
Mr. Chairman, the three members of the Warren Commission

still living have agreed to appear today and testify . They are :
Gerald R. Ford, John Sherman Cooper and John J. McCloy .

President Ford received an A.B . from the University of Michigan
in 1935 and an LL.B . from Yale Law School in 1941. President Ford
practiced law in Grand Rapids from the time of his admission to
the Michigan State bar in 1941 until he was elected to Congress as
a Republican of Michigan in 1949 . President Ford was a Member of
the 81st to the 93rd Congresses; he was elected minority leader in
1965 and he became Vice President of the United States in 1973.
He served as President of the United States from 1974 to 1977.

It would be appropriate now, Mr. Chairman, to call President
Ford .
Chairman STOKES. The committee calls President Ford .
All persons in the room are requested to remain seated when the

former President comes into the room. This is for security reasons .
Good morning, Mr. President .

TESTIMONY OF FORMER PRESIDENT GERALD R. FORD

President FORD . Good morning .
Chairman STOKES . May I ask you to please stand and take the

oath . Just raise your right hand. You solemnly swear the testimo-
ny you will give before this committee is the truth, the whole truth
and nothing but the truth, so help you God.

President FORD . I do .
Chairman STOKES. Thank you. You may be seated .
Welcome back to Capitol Hill, Mr. President .
President FORD . Thank you .
Chairman STOKES . Nice to see you here . For security purposes we

asked that all persons remain in their seats when you came into
the room.
At this time the Chair recognizes counsel for the committee, Mr.

Gary Cornwell .
Mr. CORNWELL . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good morning, Mr. President .
President FORD . Good morning .
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Mr. Chairman, if I might, I have a very short opening statement
which I would appreciate the opportunity to read, then I will be
glad to respond to whatever the questions may be of Mr. Cornwell .
Chairman STOKES . Mr. President, we would be glad to receive

your statement at this time.
President FORD . Chairman Stokes, members of the committee, it

is nice to be home and it is a great honor and great privilege to
testify before this committee, and I thank you for the opportunity
to appear along with my distinguished former colleagues on the
Warren Commission, Senator John Sherman .Cooper and the Hon-
orable John McCloy . Each of us who were appointed by President
Lyndon B. Johnson to the Warren Commission and who signed the
final report of that Commission are prepared to respond to ques-
tions as submitted by you or the members of the committee or the
staff.

I trust the committee understands my particular situation . I am
most willing to respond to any and all questions relating to my
service on the Warren Commission and related matters, but I must
respectfully refuse to answer questions under the principle of Ex-
ecutive privilege that relate to the period from August 9, 1974, to
January 20, 1977, the time that I served as President of the United
States .
The Warren Commission was given by President Lyndon B.

Johnson the tragic responsibility to investigate the assassination of
President John F. Kennedy. No member of the Commission sought
the assignment, but each member believed it was a public duty t,-
respond to the request of the President . It was not an easy or
pleasant duty because each of us had known President John F.
Kennedy. The Commission, under the chairmanship of the Chief
Justice, Earl Warren, conducted, in my opinion, a thorough, objec-
tive analysis and investigation, with the assistance of an outstand-
ing staff and the help of many, many others within and without
the Federal establishment .
The conclusions and recommendations of the Commission were

unanimous . We believe the Commission report, despite questions
that have been raised over the past 14 years, was an authoritative
document covering one of the most tragic episodes in the history of
the United States . In my own case, the staff of the committee has
submitted a set of questions and requested responses in specific
areas of inquiry . I will be glad to respond to the questions as
propounded by Mr. Cornwell or members of the committee and I
thank you for the opportunity to make my opening statement .
Chairman STOKES. Thank you, Mr. President, and we appreciate

your appearance here this morning, and at this time the Chair will
recognize Mr. Gary Cornwell for preliminary questions .
Mr. CORNWELL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. President, I would like to initially direct your attention to

the fact that in response to the assassination there were a number
of basic decisions made, first, of course, to create the Warren
Commission, as opposed to relying, hypothetically, for instance,
upon such other bodies as the Department of Justice, for the pur-
pose of supervising the investigation .

Second, I would like to focus your attention upon the decision to
rely upon the investigative agencies as opposed to perhaps attempt-
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ing to create an investigative staff of the Warren Commission; the
question of time constraints that may have been imposed upon the
members and their staff because, of course, they were influential
and busy men and they did have outside interests which coincided
with the operation of the Commission; and such things as the
relationship between the Commission and the investigative agen-
cies . I would like to ask you to comment upon that, namely, the
effectiveness of the organization and the procedures which were
adopted in response to the assassination .
President FORD. In my judgment, Mr . Cornwell, the Warren Com-

mission made a basic decision, which was a proper one . We decided
that it was inadvisable for the Commission to recruit a totally new
investigating staff, and we felt that it was far better to pursue the
procedure which we did, which was to employ a limited group of
very outstanding and prestigious lawyers, as I recall 14 in number,
who came onto the staff and headed the staff organization . Then
that staff under the close supervision and control of the Commis-
sion worked with the various investigative agencies of the Federal
Government such as the FBI, the CIA, Secret Service, and others .

I must emphasize one point. Although the staff and the Commis-
sion utilized the investigative personnel and capabilities of organi-
zations within the Federal establishment, we as a Commission and
the staff were never satisfied with what information we got from
these Federal organizations . What we did was to use them as a
base, and then the staff and the Commission took off from there
and handled individually the inquiries, the questions, and any
leads that came to the Commission or to the staff.
Mr. CORNWELL. The Senate Select Committee to Study Govern-

mental Operations looked into some of these same areas and in
book V of their final report they commented upon them.

It is my understanding that your opinion was not consulted, in
fact I don't believe the opinions of the other Warren Commission
members were consulted, prior to the publication of that report, so
I would like to direct your attention to a limited portion of it and
ask you to comment upon its accuracy from your point of view .
At page 6 of the report, the Senate committee concluded that

facts which might have substantially affected the course of the
investigation were not provided the Warren Commission or those
individuals within the FBI or CIA, as well as other agencies of the
Government who were charged with investigating the assassina-
tion . The FBI was ordered by Director Hoover and pressured by
higher Government officials to conclude its investigation quickly .
The FBI conducted its investigation in an atmosphere of concern
among senior Bureau officials that it would be criticized and its
reputation tarnished.
On page 46 the report goes on to note that with only minor

isolated exceptions, the entire body of factual material from which
the Commission derived its findings was supplied by the intelli-
gence community, primarily the FBI, and on page 47 the report
concludes that although the Commission had to rely on the FBI to
conduct the primary investigation of the President's death, their
relationship was at times almost adversarial, such relationship was
not conducive to the cooperation necessary for a thorough and
exhaustive investigation .
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Would you agree with that, and to what extent, if any, would you
think that such factors might have substantially affected the effec-
tiveness of the investigation?

President FORD. Mr. Chairman and Mr. Cornwell, the committee
did send to me this question, among others, and the material from
the Church committee report . Because I want to be very accurate,
since it involves a committee of the U.S . Senate, I would like, if I
might, Mr. Chairman, to read a response to the question that Mr.
Cornwell has asked, and with your approval I will do so.
Chairman STOKES . You certainly may do so .
President FORD . I concur with the conclusions of the Church

committee's final report, book V, page 6, which states, and I quote :
"The Committee emphasizes that it has not uncovered any evi-
dence sufficient to justify a conclusion that there was a conspiracy
to assassinate President Kennedy."

I categorically deny that the investigation of the assassination
was deficient . The Church committee concedes directly or by impli-
cation that the Commission's conclusions based on available evi-
dence were correct . To date, I have seen no new evidence that
would change my views as a former member of the Commission .
The Church committee states that the FBI was pressured by Direc-
tor Hoover and higher Government officials to conclude its investi-
gation quickly . The committee does not differentiate between the
Commission's investigation and the investigations by the FBI and
other Federal agencies . The FBI may have hurried its internal
investigation, but the Warren Commission sets its own schedule for
completion of its work, based on its best estimate of the time
required to carry out the mandate of President Johnson .
When the Commission found that July 1964 was insufficient, the

time was extended so we could properly conclude . The Church
committee erroneously assumed that the main investigation was
done by the FBI, when in fact it was undertaken by the Commis-
sion and the 14 independent lawyers assembled by the Commission
and the rest of the Commission staff. I do find in reading pages 6
and 7 of the Church committee's report, that questions of policy
procedures, decisions and so forth are raised but then in many
instances the committee report did not come to firm conclusions or
make categorical recommendations based on their sources of infor-
mation .
My response to pages 46 and 47 of the Church committee report

are as follows:
1 . The Warren Commission did use the intelligence agencies of

the Federal Government for the initial factual information and
their preliminary analysis . However, the Commission and the staff
never accepted this material at face value. From the information
supplied from all sources, an independent followup investigation
was conducted by the Commission staff, including interviews, inter-
rogations and cross checking . Conclusions by the Commission were
based on this independent process and not on Federal agency deter-
minations.
The Commission had an obligation to follow a dual policy, on the

one hand, to get maximum voluntary cooperation from all Federal
agencies including the FBI, and on the other hand, to be insistent
that the agencies respond in cooperation in however the Commis-
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sion demanded . The latter requirement may have led some agen-
cies to believe that there was an adversarial relationship . For the
Commission to have adopted any other posture would have led the
Commission critics to charge that the Commission was not carrying
out its Presidential mandate.
Mr. CORNWELL. I would next, Mr. President, ask you if you would

direct your attention to the possibility of some outside pressure or
concern upon the Commission, and for that purpose I would like to
show you two exhibits marked for identification, JFK F-457 and
JFK F-443 .
The first exhibit, Mr. Chairman, is a memorandum prepared by

Presidential Assistant Walter Jenkins, dated November 24, 1963,
and containing a resume of comments by FBI Director Hoover
made on that date, and the second one is a memorandum reflect-
ing-well, a memorandum from Mr. Evans and the FBI to Mr.
Belmont and attaching a memorandum of Deputy Attorney Gener-
al Katzenbach dated November 25 . May we have those admitted
into evidence, Mr. Chairman .
Chairman STOKES . Without objection, they may be entered into

the record at this point.
[The above-referred-to exhibits, JFK F-457 and JFK F-443,

follow :]
[JFK exhibit F-457 was entered previously .]
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Mr. CORNWELL. In particular, Mr. President, I would like for you
to respond to these portions of those memorandum. With respect to
Exhibit 457, the Walter Jenkins memorandum, according to the
memorandum, Mr. Hoover stated on page 2, bottom paragraph,
"The thing I am concerned about, and so is Mr. Katzenbach, is
having something issued so we can convince the public that Oswald
is the real assassin," and thanks to the cooperation of the Justice
Department, although it is not in your copy right there, Mr. Presi-
dent, today we have received authority to declassify one additional
sentence in that paragraph .
That additional sentence reads:
I felt this [not creating a presidential commission] was better because there are

several aspects which would complicate our foreign relations .

In the second exhibit, F-443, Mr. Evans writes :
Deputy Attorney General Katzenbach handed to me this morning the attached

memorandum which he has sent to Bill Moyers, who will be the principal assistant
to President Johnson in the White House . Katzenbach said this memorandum was
prepared by him after his discussions with the Director yesterday .

And the attached memorandum at paragraph one and then para-
graph numbered two states :

It is important that all of the facts surrounding President Kennedy's Assassina-
tion be made public in a way which will satisfy people in the United States and
abroad that all the facts have been told and that a statement to this effect be made
now .

In paragraph two, it reads:
Speculation about Oswald's motivation ought to be cut off, and we should have

some basis for rebutting thought that this was a Communist conspiracy or 'as the
Iron Curtain press is saying' a right-wing conspiracy to blame it on the Communists .

And finally, in the materials which we previously provided to
you, Mr. President, again the Senate report, at page 41, there is a
quotation from a memorandum by Richard Helms, a cable to the
CIA's Mexico station chief. Helms states:
For your private information, their distinct feeling here in all three agencies,

CIA, FBI, State, that Ambassador is pushing this case too hard and that we could
well create flap with Cubans which could have seriously repercussions .
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What I would like to ask you is, were you aware of any such
pressures at the time, and if so, to what extent, if any, do you
think they might have distorted the investigative process?

President FORD . To the best of my recollection, and I remind the
committee that the commission did its job 14 years ago, there was
no pressure as a consequence of a memo or a statement by Walter
Jenkins .
There was no pressure from any actions taken by Mr. Katzen-

bach. I fully would understand, however, the concern of the White
House staff at that time for some early resolution of whatever the
Warren Commission would decide . I can understand why the De-
partment of Justice, and other Federal agencies, may have wanted
some statement from the Commission at the earliest possible date .
But to my best recollection, there was nothing that came from
President Johnson or any of his associates in the White House,
there was nothing that came to the Commission from the Depart-
ment of Justice or other Federal agencies to hurry, in an incom-
plete way, a decision by the Warren Commission .
Now, again, to be very precise, I would like to read from a

prepared response I have in reference to the Mexican question that
has been raised .

I was not informed at the time of the Helms cable to the CIA
Mexican station chief, but to my best recollection, the members of
the Commission were familiar with the strong personal feelings of
the then-U.S . Ambassador to Mexico . The Ambassador did believe
that Castro was somehow involved in a plot to assassinate Presi-
dent Kennedy, and he was forceful in setting forth those views .
This view of the Ambassador obligated the Commission to make

a thorough investigation of the Ambassador's charges and the atti-
tude of the CIA, FBI, and State. Although the Helms cable, to my
best recollection, was not seen by me, I was familiar with the
general views of the three departments as reflected in the Helms
cable .

I believe the Commission was carried out to investigate any
divergent views between the Ambassador, on the one hand, and the
three departments on the other.
Mr. CORNWELL. Mr. President, the committee has received evi-

dence about such things as the destruction of a note within the FBI
that caused internal dissension at the time, a note which may have
been from Oswald and was delivered to Special Agent Hosty . We
have received evidence of such things as the existence of CIA
assassination plots, an association between CIA officers and some
members of the underworld .
Was the Warren Commission familiar with those type of things

and, if not, using the benefit of hindsight, could their existence
have distorted the investigation?

President FORD. It is my best recollection that we were not
familiar with the alleged destruction of the Oswald note to Hosty.
From what I have read of the content, or the alleged content of
that note, I don't think the course of the investigation would have
been changed by either the note itself or the destruction of that
note .
The other question that was raised, the allegation that the CIA

considered the possibility of using Oswald as a source of informa-
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tion, I am not able to recollect whether we were familiar with that
possibility, but, in my opinion, if we had known about it, I do not
believe it would have significantly changed the course of or the
conclusions of the Warren Commission .
There was a question raised about Mr. Hoover's theory of 1959

that Oswald may have been an imposter .
I personally was not familiar with that attitude of Mr. Hoover, in

all honesty, I don't think that attitude on his part would have
significantly changed the course of our investigation or the conclu-
sions of the Commission.
You also raised the question as to the connection or possible

involvement of the underworld in any assassination plot . I would
like to state this for the record : I do not believe that if there was
any association between some CIA officers and members of the
underworld that that would have changed the conclusion of the
Warren Commission .
However, had the Warren Commission known of any assassina-

tion plots directed against Castro, this might have affected the
extent of the Commission inquiry . In other words, if we had known
of these assassination p' ns or attempts by an agency of the Feder-
al Government, it certainly would have required that the Commis-
sion extend its inquiry into those kinds of operations by an agency
of the Federal Government.
But from what I have known of those plots, what I have read or

heard, I don't think they, in and of themselves, would have
changed the conclusions of the Commission .
Mr. CORNWELL. Finally, I would like to show you two exhibits

marked for identification as JFK F-464 and JFK F-467, each of
which respectively relate to the fact the CIA may have considered,
at one point, the possibility of using Oswald as a source of informa-
tion, and the second one relating to a theory or speculation that
Mr. Hoover had at one point, that there may have been an Oswald
imposter. May we have those admitted into the record, Mr. Chair-
man?
Chairman STOKES . Without objection, they may be entered into

the record .
[The above referred to exhibits, JFK F-464 and JFK F-467,

follow :]
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It makes little difference, now, butt

	

had at one time ' an
interest in Oswald . As soon as I had heard Oswal$'s name, I recalled

that - as/

	

. I had discussed -- sometime in S"-scorer 1950
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moment I don't recall if this was discussed while Oswald and his famiip.
were en route to our country of if it was .after their arrival .

2 . . I remember that Oswald's unusual rb~ehavior in the USSR had struck
me from the moment I had read the first SiATd !dispatch on him, and I
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Thus, I would have le=t our country shortly after Oswald's arrival .
I d0 not know what action developed thereafter .

25 P(ovember 1953 .

4 . As an afterthought, I recall also that at the time I was becoming
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DATE : !',arch 31, 1961

Mr. CORNWELL. Was the Warren Commission told about either
such matter, to your knowledge, Mr. President?

President FORD. Not to my best recollection .
Mr. CORNWELL. Finally, the committee has received some evi-

dence there may have been an employee in the Cuban consulate in
Mexico City which may have had foreknowledge of the assassina-
tion, and the employee may have been a member of Cuban intelli-
gence.
Did you ever receive any such information, to your memory,

during the course of the Warren Commission's deliberations?
President FORD . It is my best recollection we were not so in-

formed .
Mr . CORNWELL. Thank you. I have no further questions.
Chairman STOKES. Thank you, Counsel. At this point, the Chair

will recognize the gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Devine, for such time
as he may consume, after which the committee will operate under
the 5-minute rule . The gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Devine .
Mr . DEVINE . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. President, we welcome you here this morning and we appre-

ciate it must be a bit difficult after 14-plus years to recall every-
thing that occurred on this Commission, particularly due to the
vast responsibilities that were put upon you, as both Vice President
and President of the United States, during the intervening time .
With all due deference to the other members of the Warren

Commission that are present, you did attain, probably, the reputa-
tion of being the most conscientious member of the Commission,
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having attended more meetings and interviewed more witnesses
than anyone else on the Commission at that time .

In that conclusion, Mr. Chairman, would Ms. Berning make
available to the President JFK exhibits F-441 and F-442.
Mr. President, I think you have had an opportunity to, on a

previous occasion, review these two memorandums, one of which is
dated December 12, 1963 ; the other December 17, 1963, both memo-
randums being authored by the Assistant Director of the Federal
Bureau of Investigation, Mr. Cartha DeLoach.
And I would like to ask you if these memorandums, you had a

chance to review them, are accurate with respect to the conversa-
tions with you and what, if any, relationship you had with the FBI
during the operation of the Warren Commission .

President FORD . Congressman Devine, I appreciate the opportuni-
ty to respond to the two memorandums from Mr. DeLoach, one of
December 12, 1963, and one of December 17, 1963 . And if the
committee will permit, I will read a prepared statement because I
wish to be very accurate in this regard
During my service in the Congress from January 3, 1949, until

appointed to the Warren Commission, I had had an excellent rela-
tionship with the FBI. It was not on a frequent basis. I barely knew
J. Edgar Hoover, but like most Americans, had great respect for
him and the Bureau.
Over that period, I became reasonably well acquainted with Lou

Nichols, who was Mr. DeLoach's predecessor. Mr. Nichols had a
longstanding relationship with eight or nine editors of Booth news-
papers in Michigan, including the Grand Rapids Press, which was
the Booth paper in my hometown .

I met with Mr. DeLoach through Mr. Nichols, and when Mr.
Nichols retired and whenever I had a congressional matter involv-
ing the FBI, I would contact Mr. DeLoach. These were contacts
well before my appointment to the Warren Commission .
After my appointment to the Commission, and following several

of the Commission's organizational meetings, I was disturbed that
the Chairman, in selecting a general counsel for the staff, appeared
to be moving in the direction of a one-man Commission . My views
were shared by several other members of the Commission .
The problem was resolved by an agreement that all top staff

appointments would be approved by the Commission as a whole.
In my December 12, 1963 discussion with Mr. DeLoach in my

office, I told him of this temporary internal conflict with the Com-
mission-within the Commission, I should say. In that same meet-
ing with Mr. DeLoach, we discussed several other matters, includ-
ing involving possible decisions of the Commission, and I related
the visit to my office by Mr. John McCone, who was then director
of the Central Intelligence Agency.
Mr. DeLoach gave me additional information on the matter dis-

cussed by Mr. McCone. On December 17, 1963, I again met with
Mr. DeLoach in my office and the subjects discussed are set forth
in the copy of the memo from Mr. DeLoach to Mr. Moore.

In reference to these meetings with Mr. DeLoach, and my ques-
tions relating to my relationship as a Commission member with the
FBI, I will state the following :
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One, I do not have any memoranda which shows that after
December 19, 1963, I had any contact with Mr. DeLoach, and I
know of no other memoranda from any source .
Two, the two contacts with Mr. DeLoach, which were prior to

December 20, were made during the organizational period of the
Commission and before any investigations or hearings were under-
taken by the Commission .

Three, to my best recollection, the DeLoach memos appear to be
accurate, but the relationship mentioned by Mr. DeLoach did not
continue during the investigation period of the Commission .
Mr . DEVINE . On Sunday, June 7, 1964, Mr. President, you and 1, 1

think, Chief Justice Warren went to Dallas and had an interview
with Jack Ruby . Do you recall that situation?

President FORD . I recall it vividly, Mr. Devine .
Mr. DEVINE . You may further recall that during this conversa-

tion, Mr. Ruby said as follows, and this appears on page 194 of the
transcript :
Gentlemen, if you want to hear any further testimony, you will have to get me to

Washington soon, because it has something to do with you, Chief Warren . Do I
sound sober enough to tell you this?
Chief Justice WARREN . Yes; go right ahead.
Mr . RUBY . I want to tell the truth, and I can't tell it here . I can't tell it here . Does

that make sense to you?
I would ask you, Mr. President, why was Ruby not taken to

Washington for further questioning as he requested?
President FORD . First, the Chief Justice, the Chairman of our

Commission, and myself, along with several staff members, thor-
oughly interrogated Jack Ruby in Dallas on that Sunday afternoon;
the interrogation went 3 or 4 hours.
We believe that we had fully probed from him all of the informa-

tion that he had available, and the Chief Justice, the Chairman
and I reported back to the other members of the Commission the
interrogation that we had of Jack Ruby . The other members of the
Commission had full access, of course, to the transcript.

It is my best recollection that the other members of the Commis-
sion agreed with the Chief Justice and myself that it was not
necessary to bring Jack Ruby from Dallas to Washington and to go
through another interrogation of him in the Nation's capital .

Second, as the transcript indicates, Jack Ruby did request a
polygraph examination. At his request, that was given, and the
Commission and the staff of the Commission had the benefit of
that polygraph and that interrogation. So, when you brought it all
together, the interrogation by the chairman and myself and the
staff, plus the polygraph, it did not seem necessary to bring Jack
Ruby down to Washington for further investigation or interroga-
tion .
Mr . DEVINE . In other words, it was the feeling of the Commis-

sion, or at least a majority of them, that no meaningful purpose
would be served by transporting him from Dallas to Washington, is
that right?

President FORD . That is correct, sir.
Mr . DEVINE . In another vein, Mr. President, if you know, why did

Earl Warren agree to accept the position as head of the Warren
Commission?



578

President FORD . I assume that the responsibilities of the Chief
Justice--
Mr. DEVINE . Would you hold a minute, I think we have lost our

sound.
Thank you Mr. President . Let me repeat the question, if you

know, why did Chief Justice Warren accept the assignment as head
of the Warren Commission?

President FORD . I believe that Chief Justice Warren accepted the
assignment from President Johnson for precisely the same reason
that the other six of us did. We were asked by the President to
undertake this responsibility, as a public duty and service, and
despite the reluctance of all of us to add to our then burden or
operations, we accepted . I am sure that was the personal reaction
and feeling of the Chief Justice.
Mr. DEVINE . I know that you were personally reluctant to accept

it because you did not seek the assignment and I doubt if any of
the other members did. What was Allen Dulles' role on the Com-
mission?

President FORD . Allen Dulles had an identical relationship and
role on the Commission with the rest of us . He was unique, howev-
er, in that he had served for a considerable period of time as the
Director of the CIA, so that as a member of the Commission he
could draw on that experience and expertise in any matters that
involved the foreign intelligence problems .

It is my best judgment, Mr. Congressman, that we were fortu-
nate to have had a person like Allen Dulles on the Commission
because of his background .
Mr . DEVINE . Would you know, Mr. President, what his informal

relations were with the CIA, since he was the retired Director? Did
he haw? an opportunity to obtain more information for the Com-
mission because of that unique position?
President FORD . To my best knowledge, he had no unusual rela-

tionship with the Central Intelligence Agency other than the fact
that he had been a former Director . As I said a moment ago, I
believe that background and experience was beneficial to the Com-
mission and not harmful or detrimental to our investigation and
our recommendations and conclusions .
Mr. DEVINE . To put it another way, Mr. President, you then don't

feel that his former relationship with the CIA in any way hindered
the operations of the Warren Commission?

President FORD. Not at all, sir.
Mr. DEVINE . If you know, why has the public acceptance of the

findings of the Warren Commission diminished to reasonably low
proportions over the years? This is speculation, but we would like
to have the benefit of your thinking .

President FORD . Because I would like to be very precise I have a
written statement which I would like to read in this regard .

Public acceptance of the Warren Commission findings has dimin-ished for several reasons. No . one, the critics who have obtainedthe widest publicity have either deliberately or negligently mislead
the American people by misstating facts and by omitting crucial
facts in their discussions.
Second, there is general public cynicism about any report of an

assassination of a President . The record shows questions after
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many years are still being raised as to the assassination of other
Presidents .
Third, the overwhelming majority of the American people have

not read the entire Warren Commission report .
Now, under point one, let me make this specific matter a matter

of the record .
The coverup of the underlying facts, in my opinion, of the Tippit

murder has been a hallmark of critics of the Warren Commission .
For instance, in the introduction to one of the best selling books
professing Oswald's innocence, one reads, and I quote:
The plain fact is there is no evidence at all to explain how or why the Dallas

police instantly pounced on Oswald and until some adequate explanation is given no
one can be blamed for entertaining the most likely hypothesis, viz, that the Dallas
police had undisclosed reasons for arresting Oswald even before they had valuable
evidence pointing towards him.
Once that hypothesis is admitted almost all of the evidence accepted by the

Commission can be reinterpreted in a different way.
In my opinion, no investigation of the tragic assassination of the

President can be complete without including an investigation of
the murder of Dallas police officer J. D. Tippit . Almost all who
have claimed that Lee Harvey Oswald was innocent of the murder
of President Kennedy have also claimed that Oswald was innocent
of the murder of Tippit . This is despite the fact that at least six eye
witnesses, who either saw the murder or saw the Tippit gunman
leaving the murder scene with a gun in hand, identified that
gunman as Lee Harvey Oswald .
Moreover, Oswald was arrested with the Tippit murder weapon

in his possession . The arrest of Oswald was an outgrowth of the
acts of an alert citizen in Dallas, J . Calvin Brewer, who managed a
shoe store in the neighborhood of the Tippit shooting . Shortly after
Brewer learned from radio newscasts about the shooting of Tippit
in his neighborhood, he became suspicious of the way a man first
ducked into the entryway of his shoestore, where police sirens were
heard coming down the street, and then left the front of the store
soon after the police sirens subsided .
Brewer followed the man down the street into the Texas Theater

and then had the cashier call the police . When the police arrived
at the theater, Brewer pointed out the man who was Lee Harvey
Oswald . As the policeman approached Oswald pulled out a revolv-
er . Carrying a concealed gun is a crime. The fact that Oswald had
such a weapon in his possession, and drew it, is highly suspicious .
Subsequent evidence provided that this very revolver had been
purchased through the mail by Oswald under the same alias he
used to acquire the rifle used in the assassination of President
Kennedy.
Both Oswald's revolver and Oswald's rifle were mailed to the

same post office box in Dallas. Witnesses at the Tippit murder
scene saw the gunman throw cartridge cases into the bushes as he
reloaded his revolver ; an irrefutable ballistic evidence proved that
those cartridge cases came from Oswald's revolver, to the exclusion
of all other weapons in the world. This exactly corresponds with
the ballistic evidence that proved that the bullet found off Gover-
nor Connally's stretcher in Parkland Hospital in Dallas, and the
two large bullet fragments in the President's limousine which came
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from the bullet which struck President Kennedy's head, came from
Oswald's rifle, to the exclusion of all other weapons in the world.
Now, the point I wish to make is that in too many cases some of

the critics of the Warren Commission have either misstated or
omitted facts that were developed by the Commission and in the
process of either an omission or misstatement have led the public
to have less than full support for the commission's recommenda-
tions and conclusions.
Mr. DEVINE . Thank you. I have one question in a completely

different vein .
As you know, one of the mandates that the Congress has placed

on this select committee is to ultimately make recommendations.
You as President were the subject of a number of attacks, and
fortunately escaped with your hide .

President FORD . I am pretty healthy now.
Mr. DEVINE . You certainly look so .
President FORD . I am glad she missed .
Mr. DEVINE . Not wanting to be distasteful, and God forbid that

another situation would occur like occurred during the Kennedy
years, I hope we never have another assassination or assassination
attempt, but it is my understanding that if such a thing would
occur they would go through the same autopsy procedures as they
did back in 1963 ; whoever is President would be taken to Bethesda
Hospital, and he would be looked at probably by clinical patholo-
gists rather than forensic pathologists . It is my understanding also,
Mr. President, that the Metropolitan Police Department here has
anticipated that type of need for any so-called VIP and that they
have put together what they call an executive autopsy procedure
where they have everything available, they have videotapes availa-
ble, they have forensic pathologists available . That leads up to this
question, Mr. President, do you in your capacity as former Presi-
dent, as a former Member of the Congress that has been deeply
involved in the Warren Commission and the assassination prob-
lems, do you have any recommendations that you would like to
make to this committee either legislatively or procedurally as it
may relate to an assassination like this occurring in the future?

President FORD . Well, No. 1, I am glad that some plans have
been laid to maybe make the procedure in the case of another
tragedy in better, more professional hands. I am talking about the
autopsy. From what I read, this committee has determined that the
autopsy procedure in Bethesda was not conducted by the experts or
professionals in that area . That was of course unfortunate, and I
trust that what is now laid out would eliminate whatever the
difficulties were at the time of President Kennedy's assassination.

If such an assassination were to take place again, I am certain
that there would be a public demand for some organization to
undertake and investigate the full facts . I don't think the public
would be satisfied with anyone or all of the Federal agencies them-
selves investigating and coming to conclusions. So you come down
at the bottom line, I would recommend that in such a tragedy that
what President Johnson did would be repeated . I see no better
alternative. I just hope it doesn't happen again, but if it did I think
that is the best option .
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Mr. DEVINE . Do you feel there is any need for further legislation
in this area? As you know at the time of the occurrence of the
Kennedy assassinaion, it was not within the jurisdiction of the
Federal Bureau of Investigation to investigate nor have jurisdiction
in matters of this nature . That has been changed during the inter-
im period .

President FORD. As I recall, that was a recommendation of the
Commission and Congress responded to it, so at least legislatively
we probably have a better circumstance today than we did in 1963 .
And other things have improved after as you have indicated . I
would like to make a comment so the record is clear.
Even though there may have been some inadequacies, at the

time the autopsy was undertaken in Bethesda, as I understand it,
the individuals who investigated and actually reviewed the materi-
al on the autopsy, a very prestigious group from what I read, they
have come to the conclusion which is the same as those who did it
before, Kennedy was shot from behind .
Mr. DEVINE . Fine . Thank you, Mr. President .
Chairman STOKES . The time of the gentlemen has expired. Com-

mittee will now operate under the 5-minute rule .
Mr. President, in the commission arriving at the conclusion that

Lee Harvey Oswald was the lone assassin, to what degree did the
Commission struggle with the question of motive and what was the
final conclusion relative to his motive?

President FORD . My best recollection, and I repeat it is 14 years
later, is that we were not able to precisely pin down a motive for
the assassination by Lee Harvey Oswald of President Kennedy.
There was no way of really being definitive as to that motive and

so we could only speculate .
Chairman STOKES . Did it come to the attention of the Commis-

sion that the CIA had in their possession a Soviet defector by the
name of Yuri Nosenko, who claimed to have information about Lee
Harvey Oswald while he was living in Soviet Russia .

President FORD. It is my best recollection the commission was
cognizant of the existence of Mr. Nosenko . It is also my best
recollection that there was no certainty within the intelligence
community of the Federal Government as to whether he was a
plant, on the one hand, or a bona fide, on the other . There was that
difference of opinion . And so the commission had to make its own
decision as to the validity of whatever information he had .
Chairman STOKES . I would take it from that then that in terms

of the Agency, that is the CIA, they were unable to give you some
definitive information relative to his bona fides, so you might then
come to a conclusion relative to any information regarding Oswald
in the Soviet Union.
President FORD . I think that is generally correct, Mr. Chairman.

Yes, Sir .
Chairman STOKES. Now, yesterday we had a former agent from

the FBI who testified before our committee, and the way he ex-
plained the investigative procedure was that the Commission con-
ducted its own investigation, that the FBI conducted their own
investigation, and I think the term he used "they did their own
thing, we did our own thing ; if they requested anything from us we
gave them whatever they asked for."



582

Would it be your recollection that that was the way that the
Commission operated investigatively and FBI operated?

President FORD . Let me put it my way.
Chairman STOKES . Sure .
President FORD. The FBI, and I use that as an example, under-

took a very extensve investigation . I don't recall how many agents,
but they had a massive operation to investigate everything . The
Commission with this group of 14 lawyers and some additional staff
people then drew upon all of this information which was available,
and we, if my memory serves me accurately, insisted that the FBI
give us everything they had. Now that is a comprehensive order
from the Commission to the Director of the FBI. I assume, and I
think the Commission assumed, that that order was so broad that
if they had anything it was their obligation to submit it. Now if
they didn't, that is a failure on the part of the agencies, not on the
part of the Commission.
Chairman STOKES . Mr. President, was the Commission made

aware of the fact that as a result of an investigation or inspection
which was directed by J. Edgar Hoover, that 17 agents were found
to be deficient in the preassassination investigation relative to
Oswald?

President FORD . To my best recollection, at least I was not famil-
iar with any reprimand or corrective action taken by the Director .
Chairman STOKES. Thank you, Mr. President. My time has ex-

pired.
The gentleman from North Carolina, Mr. Preyer .
Mr. PREYER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman .
It is good to have you here, Mr. President, and Senator Cooper

and Mr. McCloy, as the three members of the Warren Commission
that can testify today. I think one of the problems the Warren
Commission has had is that you went out of existence immediately
upon the filing of the report, and you haven't had the opportunity
to answer your critics . There has been no official Warren Commis-
sion . And so I think it is very appropriate that you have this
chance to answer for the historical record today.
Following up on the question Mr. Devine asked, one of the man-

dates of this committee is how should we deal with the eventuality
of a high-level assassination in the future. The Warren Commission
was the first citizens' commission, as I understand it, which investi-
gated an assassination. In the past we have left it up to the normal
course of the judicial system .
You have had experience with citizens' commissions. You ap-

pointed the Rockefeller Commission I believe. And you served on
this commission . In view of your experience, do you feel that a
high-level political assassination should be dealt with by a citizens'
committee, or should we leave it up to the normal workings of the
judicial system?

President FORD. I would strongly advocate a high-level citizens'
commission as was done by President Johnson. To leave it up to
the agencies of the Federal Government, in my opinion, would
multiply cynicism and skepticism as to the conclusions. We certain-
ly have had our problems with all the critiques that have been
floating around in recent years but I think if the in-house agencies
of the Federal Government had done the job and come to the same
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conclusion we did, the critiques would have been far, far greater .
So I recommend what President Johnson did as a possibility for the
future .
Mr. PREYER . One further question on that score . The Warren

Commission did not employ its own investigative staff and used
agencies in place to develop the basic information-FBI, CIA,
Secret Service . You have indicated that Warren Commission deci-
sionmaking was independent of any conclusions of those agencies
and that you crosschecked their information .
But in the future, if a citizens' commission is set up, would it be

your judgment that they should employ its own investigative staff
as well as forming its independent conclusions with a limited staff,
or do you feel that using agencies in place and forming your
judgment on that as the Warren Commission did is the best way to
go?

President FORD. It is my best judgment that the procedure and
the policy the Warren Commission followed was the correct one,
and I would advocate any subsequent commission to follow the
same.

For the Warren Commission to have gathered together an experi-
enced staff, to get them qualified to handle classified information,
to establish the organization that would be necessary for a sizable
number of investigators, would have been time consuming and in
my opinion would not have answered what we were mandated to
do in a timely and responsive manner.

It is my, it is my strong feelings that what we did was the right
way. We were not captives of but we utilized the information from
the in-house agencies of the Federal Government.
After getting the benefit of their experience and reports, we

undertook by a wide variety of procedures to verify or to undercut
what they had given us .
Mr . PREYER . Thank you, Mr. President .
Chairman STOKES . The time of the gentleman has expired. The

gentleman from Connecticut, Mr. McKinney.
Mr. MCKINNEY. Mr. President, it is a pleasure to have you here .

Basically, to follow up on Judge Preyer's line of questioning, the
then Assistant Attorney General, Mr. Katzenbach, in a deposition
to this committee, and I quote from page 19, stated :
Perhaps naively but I thought that the appointment of Allen Dulles to the

Commission would ensure that the Commission had access to anything that the CIA
had. I am astounded to this day that Mr. Dulles did not at least make that
information available to the other Commissioners . He might have been skeptical
about how far it was to go to the staff or how it might be further investigated
because there was somewhat more of an aura of secrecy surrounding the CIA in
1964 than there is in 1978 .

We have found out that there were CIA files and information, of
course, that were not given to the Warren Commission .
So following through on the judge's questions, did you at the

time feel information was being withheld, and how would you
handle this if another commission were to be formed to make sure
the Commission knew it was getting all information?

President FORD. I had the feeling then, as a member of the
Commission, that we were getting all of the information from any
one or all of the Federal agencies, including the Central Intelli-
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gence Agency. Obviously, there was some information as to assassi-
nation plots that, to my best recollection, was not given to us . I
can't give you a 100-percent guarantee how you can get that infor-
mation . It depends on individuals, it depends on the system .
Why we weren't given it, quite frankly, I don't understand .
Mr. MCKINNEY. Continuing on in that same deposition, on page

20, Mr. Katzenbach says:
It never would have occurred to me that the FBI would cover up anything. If you

ask me the question if the FBI failed to do something it should have done, would
they have covered that up? My answer to you is, even then, would have been yes,
they probably would not cover up information that somebody else was guilty of
something of the kind, but if the Bureau had made any mistake or anything for
which the public might criticize the Bureau, the Bureau would do its best to conceal
that information from anybody, including the Commission .
Of course, we find out now that this was true in the case of the

action brought against the agents for a supposed failure before the
assassination in handling the case of Lee Harvey Oswald .
Again, it seems to be a fact that the Bureau was withholding

information from the commission, despite a Presidential mandate .
Is there any way that you could suggest that we, as a committee,
could-again, I keep hoping this will never have to happen-give a
legislative or governmental standing to this type of commission,
should it ever have to be formed again, which would override this
type of bureaucratic decision within agencies such as the CIA or
the FBI?

President FORD . I don't believe it is necessary to have a legisla-
tive charter for a commission of this kind . If my recollection is
correct, we did get, as a commission, legislative authority to put
witnesses under oath and to interrogate them under those circum-
stances .
As I recall, we had to get special legislation for that purpose,

which we did . I think that's enough, or I think that's sufficient to
insure that we have the power to pursue any and all angles .
Mr. MCKINNEY. I want to thank you very much for taking time

out of your schedule, and it is a pleasure to have you here. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman STOKES . The time of the gentleman has expired . The

gentleman from Connecticut, Mr. Dodd .
Mr. DODD. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. President, to reiterate the remarks of my colleagues, it is a

pleasure to have you here with us on Capitol Hill, particularly in
the Cannon Building . You were telling us earlier it was your place
of residence as a Member of Congress for some years.

President FORD. I had an office down on the third floor down the
hall for 16 years .
Mr. DODD. Welcome back. I would like to, if I could, Mr. Presi-

dent, direct your attention to the two memos I think you have in
front of you, exhibits 441 and 442 . Those are the DeLoach memos.
And I would like to, if I could, ask you to respond to some ques-
tions with regard to the December 12, 1963, memo first, particular-
ly two paragraphs, the very first paragraph of the memorandum
and the next to the last paragraph of the memorandum.
The first paragraph, for purposes of the record, reads, and I am

quoting from it :
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I had a long talk this morning with Congressman Gerald R. `Jerry Ford' R.-
Michigan in his office . He asked that I come up to see him. Upon arriving, he told
me he wanted to talk in the strictest of confidence . This was agreed to .

Referring to the next to the last paragraph of the same memo,
again I am quoting Mr. DeLoach here :
Ford indicated he would keep me thoroughly advised as to the activities of the

Commission . He stated this would have to be on a confidential basis, however, he
thought it should be done . He also asked if he could call me from time to time and
straighten out questions in his mind concerning our investigation. I told him by all
means he should do this . He reiterated that our relationship would, of course,
remain confidential .

Mr . President, I would like to ask you some questions about this,
if I could. First of all, the December 5 and December 16 meetings of
the commission, is it my understanding those meetings were closed
to the public and press; these were executive sessions?

President FORD . I don't recall those precise meetings, Mr. Con-
gressman, but it is my best recollection that all meetings of the
Commission were in executive session; not only those, but all that
followed .
Mr. DODD. And as I understand it, Mr . DeLoach would not neces-

sarily have had access directly to the meetings . There was liaison
with the FBI, but he was not the liaison .

President FORD . He was not the liaison person, but there was an
FBI liaison officer there, as I recall, at all hearings .
Mr . DODD. If I understood your testimony accurately this morn-

ing, you stated that you felt that the information that was con-
tained in these two memorandums, two documents, was basically
accurate, and yet you said that you had terminated your relation-
ship with Mr. DeLoach in terms of these kinds of meetings after
this December 17 meeting you had with him.
Can I, therefore, conclude that Mr. DeLoach's statements with

regard to the next to the last paragraph on the second page of the
December 12 memorandum is wrong?

President FORD . As I said in a prepared statement which I read
in reference to both memorandums, it is my best recollection that
we no longer had contacts, as indicated in these two memos, and to
my best information, there are no other memorandums that would
indicate a continuing relationship .
There are these two, all of which meetings took place in the

organizational phase of the commission's operations . To my best
knowledge, and I asked the staff of the committee to check most
carefully, there are no other memorandums indicating contacts
with Mr. DeLoach.
Mr. DODD. Mr. President, in that second sentence of that next to

the last paragraph, quoting it again, he stated, referring to you, I
believe, "This would have to be on a confidential basis. However,
he thought it should be done." Do you recall what your motivation
was, if that is a correct statement, that the time you thought it
should have been done and then having changed the relationship,
at that particular time, why you felt that it might be important to
have this kind of a confidential relationship with Mr. DeLoach?
President FORD . First, as I said in the prepared response earlier,

1, like most Americans, at that time had great respect for the
Director, Mr. J. Edgar Hoover, and for the achievements and the
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accomplishments of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. I had
developed a personal relationship, on a very off-and-on basis, with
Mr. DeLoach. If I had a question as a Member of Congress that
involved the FBI, such as you would have today, there is somebody
over at the FBI you can call, and he will come and see you.
That's the kind of relationship I had with Mr. DeLoach. If I had

a problem that involved the FBI, my contact at that time was Mr.
DeLoach. I don't know who your contact would be at the present
time, but there is a person at the FBI who will respond to your
inquiries, and that was my relationship with Mr. DeLoach.
At the outset, during the organizational phase of the commission,

we had some problems . We were concerned about what appeared to
be the attitude of the chairman . Second, several others on the
commission thought he wanted a one-man commission . Most of the
members of the commission didn't agree with that . There were
other organizational matters that I thought I could get a better feel
for if I talked to Mr. DeLoach and had the benefit of his or the FBI
investigations . That's why I had those two meetings, and, to my
best recollection, that relationship terminated at the conclusion of
the December 17 meeting.
Mr. DODD. Mr. President, you anticipated my next question . I

wanted to know, if I could, from you, why you felt it was important
that you share this information specifically with the FBI, particu-
larly when it seems to have been, at least, on a couple of internal
matters-who should be chief counsel, for instance, whether or not
there should be a press release issued on the FBI report .

Granted, it was on the FBI report, but that again, sounds more
like an internal matter to the commission-wkat they should be
doing, when the Chief Justice wanted to finalize the report. I am
curious about why the FBI, why not someone else?

President FORD. Well, in the course of a conversation, maybe 15
minutes, you cover a lot of subjects . Some of it may be related to or
pertinent to the organizational-organization of the commission,
some of it may have been just general information . I can't help but
indicate here that in one of these memos, it does state that John
McCone, then head of the CIA, came to see me, and it is also
indicated in here that Mr. McCone went to see other members of
the commission . Was that improper? Mr. McCone was the head of
an organization which was in the process of being investigated by
the Commission . I don't think you turn a person away, a person of
that responsibility, and I didn't, and I think it was perfectly proper.
I don't know what other members of the commission did, but you
have to remember, we were a unique group that was trying to get
all the information we could. It was our obligation . It was mandat-
ed by President Johnson. In the organizational phase, we had a lot
of questions, and, frankly, I think it was very proper to do what I
did.
Chairman STOKES . The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. DODD. Could I ask unanimous consent to proceed for a couple

of additional minutes, Mr. Chairman?
Chairman STOKES. Without objection, the gentleman is recog-

nized.
Mr . DODD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman . You mentioned in the

memo, as well, that you thought these meetings ought to be confi-
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dential. Was it your understanding, given the personal relationship
of Mr. DeLoach, that there would only be information you should
share with him as an individual, or did you fully expect him to
report to supervisors or superiors of his within the Bureau as to
any common suggestions and statements that you might have
made to him in those meetings?

President FORD . I didn't pursue what the process would be after
he left my office . Frankly, it didn't occur to me I should check it
out. I only know what our two relationships were on those two
occasions, December 12 and December 17, 1963 .
Mr. DODD. Did you, Mr. President, by any chance, you mentioned

that Mr. McCone sought out various other commission members. In
fact, he sought out you to talk to you about something . Did you
seek out anyone else in any other agency to talk to at that time,
other than Mr. DeLoach?

President FORD . Not to my best recollection .
Mr. DODD. I gather from what you had mentioned just a minute

ago that there were other personnel from various investigatory
agencies that did contact other members of the commission from
time to time . Is that an accurate statement of your testimony?

President FORD. I can't verify it one way or another. I have no
way of knowing who might have contacted other members of the
commission, and certainly my memory at this point would not be
sufficiently accurate to make such a charge .
Mr. DODD. Am I to understand that because of the confidentiality

or the nature of these two meetings with Mr. DeLoach, that the
other members of the Warren Commission, at the time, were not
aware of the fact you had met with Mr. DeLoach?

President FORD. To my best recollection, I didn't indicate to him
that I had those meetings; no .
Mr. DODD. Did Mr. DeLoach-granted this is going back a long

time-but do you recall whether or not he shared any information
with you as to their feelings that you brought back to the commis-
sion? Was it comments, statements, suggestions, or anything that
he might have said to you that you then brought to the commission
as a member of that commission?

President FORD. I don't recall that any advice or suggestions he
made were conveyed by me back to the commission ; no . At least
that's my best recollection .
Mr. DODD. Mr. Chairman, I thank you. I have no further ques-

tions. Again, Mr. President, I appreciate your being here today.
President FORD . Thank you.
Chairman STOKES . The time of the gentleman has expired. The

gentleman from Tennessee, Mr. Ford .
Mr . FORD . Thank you, Mr. Chairman . Mr. President, I would like

to first join with my colleague in thanking you for appearing here
this morning. I only have one question for you, Mr. President . Do
you feel that the Warren Commission received full and honest
information from the FBI and the CIA in regards to Oswald's
alleged connection with foreign governments?

President FORD . To the best of my recollection, I think we got
from any and all of the Federal agencies all of the information
they had as to Oswald's connection with any foreign government .



588

Mr. FORD. One additional question. What about the Secret Serv-
ice, did the Warren Commission ever have dialog or communica-
tion with the Secret Service?

President FORD . Oh, yes, we had testimony, as I recollect, from
the Director, who was Mr. Rowley at the time. We interrogated, as
a commission staff, made a thorough investigation of the advanced
procedures of the Secret Service, the actual operations of the
Secret Service while President Kennedy was in Dallas . The com-
mission and the staff, in my opinion, made a very thorough investi-
gation of all the responsibilities and activities of the Secret Service ;
yes, sir .
Mr. FORD . Thank you very much, Mr. President, and, again, I

thank you for coming . Mr. Chairman, I yield back my time .
Chairman STOKES . The time of the gentleman has expired . The

gentleman from Michigan, Mr. Sawyer .
Mr. SAWYER. Mr. President, I join with the others in saying what

a pleasure it is to have you here . You have been really my only
claim to distinction as a freshman Congressman here. You would
be amazed how many times when I am introduced to somebody,
they say, this is the fellow who occupies Gerald Ford's seat and the
seat you held with such distinction for 25 years .

President FORD . Thank you .
Mr. SAWYER. Going back to this Tippit situation, one thing that

has bothered me consistently, and I have to confess up until now I
haven't had any substantial enlightenment on it, I just wonder if
you have formed an opinion, not with respect to whether Oswald
shot Tippit, I am totally satisfied on that and I think the evidence
is overwhelming on that, but why Tippit stopped Oswald is a
perplexing question in that at that point in time, as you may
recall . Oswald had gone to an entirely different area of the city, far
removed, he was only walking up the street. The description that
had been issued was a general description that would be just kind
of an average guy in size and general appearance. Did you form
any opinion on that?

President FORD. Unfortunately, because of his murder, we never
got any testimony from Officer Tippit, but I assume that he was a
good officer and he had been alerted that there had been an
assassination . I suspect that any well-qualified, alert officer was
anxious to pursue anything that was suspicious .

I think we ought to compliment and congratulate Tippit for
undertaking this effort that he did. Unfortunately, it resulted in
his death . But why he did, other than carrying out his responsibil-
ities, I wouldn't know.
Mr. SAWYER. Do you think that there would be any advantage in

a criminal law applying to such a commission, let's say, as the
Warren Commission, making it a Federal crime for any Agency
personnel to withhold or not provide all pertinent information that
they are requested to provide?

President FORD. I haven't studied this but are there not present
laws on the statute books that would permit such a charge?
Mr. SAWYER. I can't answer you .
President FORD . If not, I think that ought to be investigated .
Mr . SAWYER . Fine . Thank you very much, Mr. President .
That is all I have, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman STOKES . Time of the gentleman has expired.
The gentleman from Indiana, Mr. Fithian.
Mr. FITHIAN . Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I want to join with

the others in expressing my appreciation for your coming this
morning.

I have just two areas I would like to explore briefly with you. I
would like to return for just a minute to your earlier statement
concerning bullet fragments found in the Presidential limousine. In
reviewing the Warren Commission, I find that the FBI tests of the
fragments, both through spectography and neutron activation anal-
ysis, could not in fact determine the origin of the fragments.

I just want to read briefly from the Commission report :
Each of the two bullet fragments had sufficient unmutilated area to provide the
basis for an identification . However, it was not possible to determine whether the
two bullet fragments were from the same bullet or from two different bullets . With
regard to the other bullet fragments discovered in the limousine and in the course
of treating President Kennedy and Governor Connally, however, expert examination
could demonstrate only that the fragments were "similar in metallic composition"
to each other, to the two larger fragments and to the nearly whole bullet.

Is it your recollection that other evidence or other tests were run
on the bullet fragment other than what I have had access to?

President FORD . I am not able to recollect that detail as to what
other tests, if any, were conducted at that time.
Mr. FITHIAN . Thank you.
I would like to ask you about something that has been troubling

me throughout our investigation and some reports that there was
unusual pressure to either arrive at an early conclusion that it was
Oswald alone, or to arrive at unanimity that Oswald was the lone
assassin, et cetera .
There was a report in 1975 pertaining to a June 4 meeting of the

commission, and the report in the Washington Star indicated that
Ford provoked "a near uproar in the panel when on June 4, 1964
he charged that outside forces were trying to pressure the commis-
sion to decide in advance that Oswald was a solitary assassin ."

I wonder if you would help the committee out by commenting on
that report?

President FORD . I have no recollection of that particular June 4
meeting or any pressure that the commission received for any
definitive conclusion . As other members of the commission, I think,
will testify, we had a unanimous vote as to the fact that Lee
Harvey Oswald committed the assassination and all other decisions
of the commission were also unanimous.
There was no pressure . We operated as a unit of seven members

who fortunately all agreed.
Mr. FITHIAN . I want to return briefly to the unanimous question

in just a moment. But is it then your testimony that in your
judgment the FBI had not decided prematurely, that there was no
evidence that you had that the FBI withheld information from the
commission or gave information to the commission that would
make the Bureau look better instead of "everything that you asked
for"?

President FORD . I suspect that the FBI, after its investigation,
came to the conclusion that Oswald was the assassin . I suspect
there is evidence, reports, around the Bureau, or maybe over in our

41-372 0 - 79 - 38(Vo1. 3)
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files, that that was their conclusion, but I emphasize their conclu-
sion did not determine the conclusion of the commission. What
they came to as a conclusion was helpful to the commission, but it
didn't decide for the commission what our conclusion was.
Chairman STOKES . Time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. FITHIAN. I ask unanimous consent to ask one additional

question .
Chairman STOKES . Without objection, the gentleman is recog-

nized.
Mr. FITHIAN. Mr. President, it has been reported many places

that there was some difficulty in arriving at unanimity of the
conclusiveness of the evidence for the final report and that in order
to get the unanimity, which is the historical record now, certain
very carefully drafted language, such as no evidence to the con-
trary, or according to the evidence presented to us, and then the
conclusion . Would you care to comment on the effort at drafting
the report in such a way, did you have any problem arriving at the
unanimity short of drafting some very careful, artful language?

President FORD. There was a recommendation, as I recall, from
the staff that could be summarized this way. No. 1, Lee Harvey
Oswald was the assassin . Two, there was no conspiracy, foreign or
domestic.
The commission, after looking at this suggested language from

the staff, decided unanimously that the wording should be much
like this, and I am not quoting precisely from the Commission staff,
but I am quoting the substance.
No . 1, that Lee Harvey Oswald was the assassin .
No . 2, the Commission has found no evidence of a conspiracy,

foreign or domestic .
The second point is quite different from the language which was

recommended by the staff. I think the Commission was right to
make that revision and I stand by it today.
Mr. FITHIAN. Well, thank you, Mr. President.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman .
Chairman STOKES . Time of the gentleman has expired.
The gentleman from Nebraska, Mr. Thone.
Mr. THONE. Welcome back, Mr. President. The hour is late . Just

one question . There was no question but that the Federal Bureau
of Investigation has a lot of background material on Lee Harvey
Oswald that should have alerted them, I am sure did alert them, to
the fact that he could very well have been a security problem.
They also knew, as I understand it, as least one agent knew, that
he was working in the Texas Book Depository.

It is my understanding that that information was not then trans-
mitted to the Secret Service.
Do you have any thoughts or suggestions regarding this obvious

breakdown in communication?
President FORD . At one time I knew that whole story, but I must

say I can't recall all of the details.
I think the conclusion of the Commission was that there had to

be a better liaison between the FBI and the Secret Service and/or
any other agencies involved in intelligence, et cetera, and I trust
and hope that that interrelationship has been improved . It wasn't
the best at that time, as my memory serves me.
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Mr . THONE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman . I yield back the balance
of my time .
Chairman STOKES . Time of the gentleman has expired.
The gentleman from Pennsylvania, Mr. Edgar.
Mr. EDGAR. Thank you, Mr. Chairman .
I, too, want to welcome you to the committee today and thank

you for your answers to our questions.
Mr. President, was there a sitdown meeting of the Warren Com-

mission with the FBI, the CIA, and the Secret Service at the very
beginning of the Warren Commission's investigation to outline an
investigative plan for the commission?

President FORD . I do not recall any meeting of the full commis-
sion with the Director of the FBI, the Director of CIA, and the
Director of the Secret Service . I am not sure such a meeting was
necessary or essential .
Our first responsibility was to appoint a staff, which we did, and

to layout a procedure by which we would investigate, et cetera . Mr.
Rankin and the Chief Justice, if my memory is accurate, had the
basic man to man relationship with the head of the FBI, the Secret
Service and the CIA, and it is my feeling that that interrelation-
ship was sufficient from the point of view of myself as a member of
the commission .
Mr. EDGAR. Did the commission itself have an investigative plan?
President FORD . Well, we have a plan that was under the direc-

tion of the commission and implemented by the staff, and that was
a very specific investigation method, procedure, and I think it
worked.
Mr. EDGAR. The reason for my question is that we have uncov-

ered some information that the Secret Service and the FBI and the
CIA didn't talk together very well and did not share information
with each other prior to the assassination, and that there is some
evidence that even after the assassination each of them worked
separately and apart from each other. Wouldn't it have been a
proper role of the Warren Commission to act as a coordinating
function between these agencies to get them to share information
about Lee Harvey Oswald or about the investigation?

President FORD . If you will return or look at, Congressman
Edgar, the report of the commission, page 24, under subparagraph
small (c), the report says, and I will read it for you:
The Commission has concluded that there was insufficient liaison and coordina-

tion of information between the Secret Service and other Federal agencies necessar-
ily concerned with Presidential protection.

It goes on, but that is a summary of the rest of the paragraph .
Yes, I think we found there was insufficient liaison, coordination,

before the assassination . I don't think it was necessarily required
that they have liaison afterwards in the course of the investigation.
To do their respective responsibilities effectively, cooperation was
essential before the assassination .
Mr. EDGAR. Thank you.
Moving to another area . In reference to the disciplinary action of

the 17 agents of the FBI, to the best of your recollection, when did
you first come to know about the disciplinary action?
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President FORD . To be honest with you, I did not know of that
disciplinary action at any time while I was a member of the com-
mission.
Mr. EDGAR. Do you think that knowledge of that information

would have been helpful to the commission in light of the fact that
J. Edgar Hoover indicated that part of the reason for the disciplin-
ary action was that the agents should have been aware of Lee
Harvey Oswald's background and placed him on the security
index?

President FORD . It might have been helpful to the commission
but I don't think it would have altered in any way the final
recommendations or conclusions . I think we might have been
helped by that information, but I don't think it would have varied
other commission conclusions.
Chairman STOKES . Time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. EDGAR. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask unanimous con-

sent for 2 additional minutes.
Chairman STOKES . Without objection, the gentleman is recog-

nized.
Mr. EDGAR. Mr. President, you mentioned the importance of

Officer Tippit. I wonder if you could speculate for us where Lee
Harvey Oswald was going at the time of the shooting of Officer
Tippit?

President FORD . I have no immediate recollection of where he
was going at that time . I would have to refresh my memory before
I could give you any firm answer .
Mr . EDGAR. Did you have an opportunity as part of the commis-

sion to retrace Lee Harvey Oswald's steps from his rooming house
to the shooting of Mr. Tippit and then to the--

President FORD . Yes; I went to Dallas with the Chief Justice and
we spent a full day not only interrogating Jack Ruby but going
over precisely Oswald's movements as we understood them, during
that whole period . We went, again I can't recall the number, by the
house where the woman was on the porch, et cetera .
Mr . EDGAR. In that journey, did you also travel to Jack Ruby's

apartment?
President FORD . I don't recall that .
Mr. EDGAR. Let me just ask one final question, then.
Mr. President, what would you do to improve the protection of

the President of the United States?
President FORD . Well, having experienced 30 months of their

protection and their continuing protection at the present time, I
think they do a very professional job. They are an outstanding
group of people . They are well organized and have fine leadership.

I only know firsthand that in two instances they did a very, very
superb job in responding to an assassination attempt. In the case of
Fromm in Sacramento, an agent, Larry Boondorf, really moved in
effectively and quickly .

In San Francisco, again, what was done I thought was very
professional . I am very grateful as to how they handled themselves,
what they have done, and the way they are organized . I know of no
way you can improve it from my personal experience .
Mr. EDGAR. Thank you, Mr. President .
No further questions .
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Chairman STOKES. Time of the gentleman has expired.
The gentleman from Connecticut, Mr. Dodd, is seeking additional

recognition .
Mr. DODD. Just one question, if I may, and this will be the last

one. I know you are running behind .
Today you stated that there were a number of alleged incidents

or facts that were relevant to one degree or another to the assassi-
nation which you and the other members of the commission, or
many of them, were not aware of at the time you served on the
commission .
You refer specifically to the existence of the Hosty letter and its

contents, or its alleged contents ; the allegations that Lee Harvey
Oswald might have been an FBI informer ; J. Edgar Hoover's so-
called second Oswald theory in 1959 when he was overseas ; assassi-
nation plots against Fidel Castro; and just recently here, in ques-
tioning from Congressman Edgar, the disciplinary action that was
taken against the agents in the FBI; things that you were not privy
to at the time you were serving on the commission . I raise those
points to ask you this question .
Without-and I understand your answer with regard to the con-

clusions in light of these additional revelations-but putting that
aspect of it aside, the conclusions, in terms of an investigation,
would you agree that the investigation of the Warren Commission,
I mean that, for example, the witnesses interrogated, in light of
these four or five facts or allegations that I have just mentioned, in
light of that, do you feel that the investigation of the Warren
Commission would have called upon additional witnesses, that the
investigatory process would have changed as a result of those addi-
tional facts and information?
President FORD . To a degree, but I do not believe that there

would have been any significant change in the process or the
methods. Obviously we wanted to have all information, including
the information that you have related. Unfortunately, for various
reasons, it was not made available to the commission.
But I refer again to what I said earlier . I do not think our lack of

information in those instances had any adverse impact on our
conclusions or would have changed the conclusions .
Mr . DODD. Thank you, Mr. President .
Thank you, Mr. Chairman .
Chairman STOKES . Time of the gentleman has expired.
The gentleman from Ohio, Mr. Devine, is seeking additional

recognition.
Mr . DEVINE. Thank you, Mr. President, again for your total

cooperation and appearance here .
I ask unanimous consent that JFK exhibits F-441 and F-442 be

admitted in evidence at this point in the record .
Chairman STOKES . Without objection, they may be admitted to

the record at this point.
[The above referred to JFK exhibits F-441 and F-442 were ad-

mitted into evidence and follow:]
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JFK EXHIBIT F-441
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ASSASSINATION OF THE PRESIDENT

I had a long talk this morning with Congressman Ger
-
ald R.7(Gerry)-*Ford

(R.- Nlichigan) in his office.

	

He asked thdt I comeup to see him. Upon arriving he
told nehe wanted to talk in the strictest of confidence . This was agreed to.

F!%^( Ford told me 'he was somewhat disturbed about the manner ,n which'r
Chief JusticetVarren tvas carrying on his Chairmanship of the Presidential Commission.l l

I He -explained that the first mistake that Warren made was his a~tempt to establish a
"one man commission" by appointing a Chief Counsel, Warre"lney, that was his ow
1orotege .

	

Ford stated th;kt 'after the mention of Olney's name by the Chief Justice, at

	

I
eir first meeting, Allenl~vlles, former Director of CIA, protested quite violently.

'.Jecause of Dulles' protest, the other members told Warren that they would like to know-,Z,
,.More about Olney prior to giving their consent.

	

I

On the occasion of their second meeting, Ford and'HaI.

	

ggs joined \
~-:ith Dulles .

	

Hale Boggs told Warren flatly that Olney would not be -acceptable and that v
Boggs) would not work on the Commission with Olney. Warren put up a stiff

argL,.ment but a compromise was made when the name of L_efiRanltin,was mentioned. L`"-
; arren stated he knew Rankm and could work with him.

	

t, k c

	

!'c , c U ` I

	

10
-

	

j;.c;. , ut~hcloL c1c

	

~. : :,~T~="/IFord told me that he was'currently having problems inasmuch-as t2)e
-.=jority of the members of the Commission desired to go along with the recommendat on
Made in I~puty-Attorney-GeneraVn§atzenbich4ss letter to the Commission dated 12-9-63

letter, Katzenbach recommended that the Commission make an immediate,
tress release pointing out that the FBI report clearly showed there was no internatiom i
~cnspiracy or collusion and that Oswald,was a loner.

	

Ford stated he was a minority off,,
-:e that did not want to give out any press release until the Commission had hada
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. crough opportunity to review and discuss,.the FBI report . ' (I noted that the report ~F35,
. his desk at the time of our meeting. -):
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I told Ford in strict confidence that the Director concurred with his "
viewpoint. I mentioned that our investigation thus far had conclusively shown that
Oswald Vt)erated by himself and that Ruby additionally was a loner.

	

However, FBt -'
investigation was still pending on a large number of rumors, speculation and gossip - .
1nd it, therefore, would be quite unfair for the Commission to take a stand prior to -

l 11 the evidence being turned in .

	

Ford stated this was his point entirely and that

	

'
although he was a minority of one he intended to stick to his point.'

Ford told me that John McCone, Director of CIA, had, approximately
one week ago, gone up to his office and told him that CIA had uncovered some
"startling information" in the Oswald case . McCone proceeded to tell Ford that a
.source of CIA's in Mexico had seen money exchange hands between Oswald and an "-
.unknown Cuban Negro.

	

Ford stated this excited him greatly inasmuch as it definitely
tended to show there was a

	

internati nal connection involved in the assassination of

'h7 f3c~ar vt,

	

~' (
I told Ford that apparently McCo e had failed to follow up on this matter.

1 mentioned that CIA's source had recanted his std and had indicated that,iL%v?s_ .%
"" ment of his im

	

iriatTon:However

	

rovethe unstITIc tendencies of this source,
'he source had later claimed that he was actually telling the truth.

	

I pointed out that w--
"sere still chec sing some'ang es oC tlus,-However,theCIAsource was obviously either
.:nJ

	

theof somewhat ofLpsych naclord stated he c

	

ld certainly see this.
R -2.5.x�
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Ford indicated he would keep me thoroul,Ify advised as

	

the activities of
'he Commission .

	

He stated this would have to be on a donfidential basis, however, he
thought it should be done .

	

He also asked if lie could call me from time to time and
straighten out questions in his mind concerning our investigation. I told hinrby all
r;eans he should do this .

	

He reiterated that our relationship would, of course, rema?n
confidential.

We have had excellent relations with Congressman Ford for many years.
3e has been given an autographed copy of the Director's book "A Study of Communism"
and has been in touch with my office on numerous occasions in the past.

Contact will be maintained with Congressman Ford . (!
f
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LEEHARVEY OSWALD
INTERNAL S&CURITY - R

	

jy
THE PRESIDENTIAL COMMISSION -stit~!

I talked with Congressman Gerald Ford R-T4ichi :-an at hisT,f~fice at 1:45 P
is afternoon. The facts concerning the allegations o[-~" -~7that he
: ".v Oswald receive $6, 500 in the Cuban Consulate, Medico ~ity, on September 18, 1963,
:d the recanting of such false facts were made very clear to Congressman Ford.
told me hQ was glad to ge ;'he further facts concerning the matter, particularly

	

,
view of the story that Joh " ~4cCore o[ CIA had told him originally .

-

	

'

	

--'With respect to the meeting of the Presidential Commission on Deceml(ej lf
33, Congressman Ford told me that the members of the Commission, including the7-_
:ief Justice, agreed unanimously that no preliminary release should be made to the`"
-ess regarding the facts as outlined in the FBI report.

	

'

Chief Justice Warren told the Commission that they should strive tg have
-'- hearings completed and the findings made public prior to July, 1964, when the
;den campaigns will begin to get hot. He stated it would be unfair to present t

1

_

	

ridings after July, 1964 .

Several :nembers of the Commission indicated that Oswald's hand%jitten`
- =ements in'the exnibits section of the report should be typed out for clearer prc, :sal. _'Z~
g in was instructed to contact our liaison man, Inspector Malley, in this regard .

;.There was no criticism of the FBI at yesterday's meeting.

	

There were
aUegations'made by any one, including the Chief Justice, . that the FBI had leaked .
:dons of this report .

	

I again went over very carefully with Congressman Ford the
-t the FBI had not had any "leaks" whatsoever . I told him we were well aware that the
;rnrtment had done considerable Lalking; furthermore, it now appeared somewhat

;-:ious that members of the Commission were beginning to leak the report.

	

I referred
this week's issue of "Newsweek" magazine which contains a rather clear analysis
the report .

	

I told Congressman Ford that "Newsweek" was owned by the "Washington
;t" and that apparently some one was trying to curry favor.

	

I told him we, of course,
not get along very well with either the "Washington Post" or "Newsweek." He .

	

'
>lied that he was in the same boat, . that lie liked neither one of these publications . .

- ~ ir . Belmont
'sIr . Rosen
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l Congressman Ford in strict confidence that apparently Chief Justice Warren was
Le close to Drew Pearson and obviously used Pearson from time to time to get -

~)ughts a%ross to the general-publie .

	

I mentioned Pearson's articlesof December 14-16,
53 .

	

I told Congressman Ford as he well.knew 9iO of the facts in these articles
are absolutely false.
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Congressman Ford told me that several members had been somewhat
:prised, however, pleased that the FBI's report had been in narrative form rather
an written in a straightforward factual manner. I told him this, of course, was
the convenience of the Commission . He then mentioned Chief Justice Warren

' expressed the desirability of seeing the actual reports which back up those in
rrative form . I told him the Director had issued very specific instructions that
ese reports be made ready for the Commission . I told him they were quite lengthy

would be consideydble material to wade through.

	

_

	

. .

	

, :

	

.

Twd members of the Commission brought up the fact that they stfA-
e not convinced that the President had been shot from the sixth floor window

the Texas Book Depository.

	

These members failed to understand the trajectory
slugs that killed the President.

	

He stated he felt this point would be discussed
_they but, of course, would represent no problem.

	

_

Three members of the Commission expressed disappointment that
E ,.\Iaughman, former-Chief of Secret Service, had seen fit to make a number of ill-
s
;

	

hemarks concerning the operations of the Secret Service in the press.

	

The
emission does not agree with Baughman and criticized him quite thoroughly .

	

They
>:theless plan to call him before the Commission and take testireony-

At the Commission meeting yesterday, Lee Rankin, the Chief Counsel,
s authorized to hire two so-called "technicians" who will assist him in research and
elopment of the Commission's findings .

	

The Commission was told by Rankin that
se men were skilled attorneys.

	

One of these individuals is named -	Adams,
:)rmer Police Commissioner in New York .

	

Another individual is a person by the
me of

	

Jenner, an attorney from Chicago.

	

TheCommission was advised
".` both of these men are aN^flable for immediate employment . Congressman Ford
_:ed he raised the question as to checking the backgrounds of these individuals.

	

He
s told by Rankin that .both of them had very satisfactory backgrounds and belonged
no organizations inimical to the best interest of the U. S. Government .

Upon leaving.Congressman Ford advised me that he will be in Michigan
a skiing vacation with his wife and children between December 22, 1963 and
:_"try 1, 19G4 .

	

He stated I should call him at any time his assistance was needed.

2-
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::ted lie had one problem. He wanted to take the FBI report with him yet -_
had no%,ay of transporting it in complete safety .

	

I told him I felt the Director
ould wa : ;t him to borrow from us one of our Agent briefcases that contains a lock.
e statedthis would be ideal and he would appreciate loan of a briefcase very much.'

CTION:
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This matter will be followed very closely.

	

It there are no objections,
rcill deliver an Agent briefcase containing a lock to Congressman Ford tomorrow,
=ceniber 18, 1963.

'j

	

J.f% - .

Chairman STOKES . Mr. President, at the conclusion of a witness'
testimony before this committee, he is entitled under our rules to 5
minutes. He may take that 5 minutes for the purpose of comment-
ing upon his testimony or explaining it or expanding upon it in any
way, and I would extend to you at this time 5 minutes for that
purpose.

President FORD . Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman .
I will not take that time . I do wish to express my appreciation to

you, the committee members, and the staff for their consideration .
It has been a pleasure to be here . I will give my time to my former
associates on the commission, John Sherman Cooper and John
McCloy, who I am sure will be very helpful in expanding or im-
proving on my observations here this morning.

I thank you very, very much .
Chairman STOKES . Thank you, Mr. President, for not only the

time you have expended with our staff and Mr. Cornwell prior to
your appearance here today, but taking time out of what we know
is a very busy schedule to appear here and to offer the testimony
we have received this morning.
As one of your former colleagues here in the House, it has been

an honor to have had you here .
President FORD . Give my best to everybody .
Chairman STOKES . Thank you, we certainly will .
All persons are requested to remain in their seats for security

reasons until President Ford has left the room .
Professor Blakey .
Mr. BLAKEY . Our next two witnesses this morning, Senator

Cooper and Mr. McCloy, will be called as a panel.
Mr. Cooper received an A.B . degree from Yale University in

1923, and and LL.B . from Harvard Law School in 1925 . He served
the State of Kentucky as U.S . Senator from 1947 through 1949,
1953 through 1955, and 1957 through 1973 . Currently he is in
private practice in Washington, D.C . as counsel of Covington &
Burling.




